S256665

CRC 8.25(b) FILED

SEP 3 0 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

LUIS SHALABI

Deputy

Plaintiff and Appellant

ν.

CITY OF FONTANA, et al.

Defendants and Respondents.

REVIEW OF A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO, CASE NO. E069671 SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY SUP. CT., CASE NO.: CIVDS1314694

RESPONDENTS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LYNBERG & WATKINS, APC

S. FRANK HARRELL (SBN 133437)

sharrell@lynberg.com

*PANCY LIN (SBN 239684)

plin@lynberg.com

RUBEN ESCOBEDO III (SBN 277866)

rescobedo@lynberg.com

1100 Town & Country Road, Suite 1450

Orange, California 92868

TEL: (714) 937-1010 | FAX: (714) 937-1003

I. ISSUE PRESENTED

Code of Civil Procedure § 12 provides: "The time in which any act provided by law is to be done is computed by excluding the first day, and including the last, unless the last day is a holiday, and then it is also excluded." In cases where the statute of limitations is tolled, is the first day after tolling ends included or excluded in calculating whether an action is timely filed?

II. INTRODUCTION

Relying on this Court's opinion in <u>Ganahl v. Soher</u>, 5 P. 80 (Cal. 1884) ("<u>Ganahl</u>"), the Superior Court entered a defense judgment based on California's two-year statute of limitations. <u>See</u>, <u>Code Civ. Pro.</u>, §§ 312, 335, 335.1. The plaintiff was a minor when the cause of action accrued, and the statute of limitation was tolled during his minority under <u>Code of Civ. Proc.</u> § 352. Counting the plaintiff's 18th birthday, as required by <u>Ganahl</u>, the plaintiff filed his action two years and one day after tolling had expired.

The Court of Appeal reversed, declining to follow <u>Ganahl</u> and relying on <u>Code of Civ. Proc.</u> § 12 to grant the Plaintiff one extra day: the day after tolling expired. This Court granted review. As discussed below, the Court of Appeal erred and this Court should uphold <u>Ganahl</u>, which follows the Legislature's unambiguous instructions on how to count statutes of limitations deadlines.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Code of Civil Procedure § 12 provides: "The time in which any act provided by law is to be done is computed by excluding the first day, and including the last, unless the last day is a holiday, and then it is also excluded."

In the litigation context, § 12 is designed to give parties the full measure of days to satisfy statutory deadlines. Thus, partial days are excluded from the count towards expiration of a litigation deadline. See, Price v. Whitman, 8 Cal. 412, 417 (1857)("[A]s a fraction of a day cannot be counted, by excluding the first and counting the last day, the full time [is] allowed" to parties in meeting deadlines.); Phelan v. Douglass. 11 How.Prac. 193 (N.Y. 1855)(part days are excluded "since, if counted, it would fail to give the party to be affected the whole of that day, but only a fractional part of it. . .. [¶] The law will not take notice of fractions of a day, and the fraction is excluded.")

Only full days are included in the deadline count. <u>Id.</u> Thus, as regards the running of the statute of limitations, the "accrual" of a cause of action on a partially spent day is excludable under § 12. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Wixted v. Fletcher</u>, 192 Cal. App. 2d 706, 709 (1961)(stating the rule).

In <u>Ganahl</u>, this Court correctly determined that the day after tolling ends is included within the limitations period, at least in cases where that day is a full and complete day. <u>Ganahl</u> also rightly found that the day

following expiration of minority tolling is a full day for statute of limitations counting purposes. <u>Ganahl</u> is consistent with case law from California and the majority of jurisdictions that have considered the issue. The Legislature has seen no reason to overrule <u>Ganahl</u>, nor should this Court.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Incident

On May 14, 2011, City of Fontana police officers located Plaintiff Luis Shalabi's father after he had stolen two cars. (Volume I, Clerk's Transcript ("CT") page 5.) Rather than submit to arrest, Shalabi's father responded by using one of his stolen vehicles as a deadly weapon against law enforcement. (Id.) The Fontana officers survived this attack. (Id.) Shalabi's father did not. (Id.)

B. Trial Court Proceedings

After a period of minority, on December 3, 2013 Shalabi filed this suit. (I CT 1.) Shalabi asserts one cause of action under 42 <u>U.S.C.</u> § 1983 against the City, Officer Vanessa Waggoner, and Officer Jason Perniciaro. (I CT 125, 130, 377-378.)

The Superior Court bifurcated the matter and held a threshold bench trial regarding statute of limitations issues. (I RT 17-19.) For purposes of trial, the parties stipulated that: (1) Plaintiff's date of birth was December 3, 1993; (2) Plaintiff reached the age of majority on December 3, 2011; and

(3) Plaintiff filed his original complaint on December 3, 2013. (II CT 415, 417.)

The trial court found this Court's statute of limitations opinion in Ganahl v. Soher, 5 P. 80 (Cal. 1884) to be dispositive. Specifically, the Ganahl Court addressed how to properly calculate the statute of limitations for minor plaintiffs (like Shalabi). Id. After a survey of relevant law, the Ganahl Court found that the statute of limitations begins to run on the day the minor plaintiff attains his majority. Id.

Consistent with <u>Ganahl</u>, the trial court rightly found that Shalabi's 18th birthday (December 3, 2011) must be counted against the pertinent two-year statute of limitations. (I RT 23-24.) The trial court further found that the limitations period thereafter expired on December 2, 2013. (I RT 23-24.) As Shalabi's suit was filed one day beyond this deadline (on December 3, 2013), the trial court properly found that Shalabi's suit was time barred. (I RT 24.) Plaintiff appealed.

C. The Court of Appeal's Decision

The Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division 2, reversed the trial court's judgment. See, Shalabi v. City of Fontana, 35 Cal.App.5th 639 (2019) ("Shalabi"). The Court of Appeal did not dispute that the trial court had correctly applied Ganahl to the statute of limitations issue in this case.

Id. at 644 ("Ganahl did explain that [the plaintiff's] birthday started the

running of the statute of limitations because [he] had the entirety of his birthday to file the lawsuit.")

Even so, the Court of Appeal declined to simply affirm the trial court's judgment as <u>Ganahl</u> requires. Instead, the lower court suggested that <u>Ganahl</u> was wrongly decided as it failed to consider a statute (<u>i.e.</u>, <u>Code of Civ. Proc.</u> § 12) which was in existence at the time <u>Ganahl</u> was decided. <u>Id.</u> at 644; <u>see</u>, <u>Code of Civ. Proc.</u> § 12 ("The time in which any act provided by law is to be done is computed by excluding the first day, and including the last, unless the last day is a holiday, and then it is also excluded.")

From this, the Court of Appeal found that <u>Ganahl</u> was, in its view, of no precedential value:

Ganahl did explain that [the plaintiff's] birthday started the running of the statute of limitations because [he] had the entirety of his birthday to file the lawsuit. . .. However, Ganahl did not explain how the court could create an exception to section 12, which requires the first day be excluded when calculating time. Because Ganahl did not cite section 12 or explain how the court could create an exception to a law created by the Legislature, we conclude Ganahl is not binding authority on the issue of how to calculate time under section 12.

<u>Id.</u> at 644 (citation omitted.)

Respondents sought rehearing on the grounds that: (1) <u>Code of Civ.</u>

<u>Proc.</u> § 12 was in existence at the time this Court decided <u>Ganahl</u>, (2) the law presumes that the <u>Ganahl</u> court gave all due consideration to Section 12

before it ruled, and (3) <u>stare decisis</u> principles consequently preclude the Court of Appeal from disregarding <u>Ganahl</u>'s holding. The Court of Appeal denied the Petition without comment.

Subsequently, this Court granted review. As noted above, the issue before the Court is whether the day after tolling expires is included in counting the statute of limitations.

V. STATEMENT OF APPEALABILITY

The trial court's judgment of dismissal is appealable [Code Civ. Proc., § 904.1(a)(1)], and this Court has jurisdiction to review the Court of Appeal's decision. See, Dix v. Superior Court, 53 Cal.3d 442, 455 n.8 (1991) ("Under article VI, section 12, subdivision (b) of the California Constitution ..., we have jurisdiction to 'review the decision of a Court of Appeal in any cause."") (italics omitted).

VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The pertinent facts regarding the running of the statute of limitations in this case are stipulated and undisputed. (II CT 417.) The Court of Appeal's application of pertinent statute of limitations law to these undisputed facts is reviewed <u>de novo</u>. See, California Bldg. Indus. Assn. v. Bay Area Air Quality Mgmt. Dist., 62 Cal.4th 369, 381 (2015) ("We review the Court of Appeal's interpretation of [a] statute <u>de novo</u>.").

ARGUMENT

- VII. GANAHL CORRECTLY INCLUDED THE FIRST DAY

 AFTER TOLLING ENDED IN THE STATUTE OF

 LIMITATIONS COUNT.
 - A. Many Key Dates In the Statute of Limitations Count Are Undisputed.

At the outset, many key statute of limitations principles in this case are – or should be – undisputed. Specifically, all parties agree that California's personal injury statute of limitations governs the timeliness of Plaintiff's federal 42 <u>U.S.C.</u> § 1983 claim. <u>See, Maldonado v. Harris</u>, 370 F.3d 945, 954 (9th Cir. 2004)("In determining the proper statute of limitations for actions brought under 42 <u>U.S.C.</u> § 1983, [courts] look to the statute of limitations for personal injury actions in the forum state.") Under California law, the applicable statute of limitations for personal injury actions is two years. <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Code Civ. Proc.</u> § 335.1).¹

¹ See, Owens v. Okure, 488 U.S. 235, 250 (1989) ("courts considering § 1983 claims should borrow the general or residual statute for personal injury actions"); Williams v. Horvath, 16 Cal.3d 834, 838 (1976) ("the courts, whether state or federal, typically apply the state limitations statute which governs actions to redress the wrong most closely analogous to that described in the complaint").

By contrast, the "accrual date" of a § 1983 cause of action is determined with reference to federal law alone. See, Wallace v. Kato, 549 U.S. 384, 387-88 (2007). Under federal common law principles, courts apply "the standard rule that [accrual occurs] when the plaintiff has 'a complete and present cause of action,' "that is, when "the plaintiff can file suit and obtain relief." Id. (citing Bay Area Laundry & Dry Cleaning Pension Trust Fund v. Ferbar Corp. of Cal., 522 U.S. 192, 201 (1997)).

Here, Plaintiff complains regarding the death of his father, an event which all parties agree took place on May 14, 2011. (I CT 5.)

Plaintiff's cause of action "accrued" for statute of limitations purposes at that point. See, e.g., Brown v. Buck, 614 Fed.Appx. 590, 592 (3d Cir. 2015)("Brown alleged that the officers used excessive force against him when they shot him on March 22, 2011, and his claim accrued then.");

Estate of B.I.C. v. Gillen, 710 F.3d 1168, 1176 (10th Cir. 2013)(§ 1983 claim for loss of familial association arising from a family member's death accrues at the time of death.)

The day of the accrual of Plaintiff's case is excluded in the statute of limitations count by virtue of tolling for Shalabi's under-age status. See, Code Civ. Proc., § 352(a); Shalabi v. City of Fontana, 35 Cal.App.5th 639, 642 (2019). Tolling for Plaintiff's minority status ended at the expiration of his 17th year of age (i.e., December 2, 2011.) (II CT 417.) Shalabi

thereafter had "two years" remaining on his statute of limitations to file suit. See, Code Civ. Proc. § 335.1.

The sole remaining question is whether – under <u>Code of Civ. Proc.</u> § 12 -- the expiration of Shalabi's under-age tolling counts in measuring the statute of limitations. If it does, Shalabi's case is time-barred.

B. Section 12's Enaction and Purpose As Regards Litigation Deadlines.

The Court of Appeal's decision rested on the faulty assumption that, whenever a statutory deadline requires calculation, <u>Code of Civ. Proc.</u> § 12 always dictates that "day one" of the count be ignored. This reading is at odds with the history and text of § 12, as well as case law confirming that the method of counting is always dependent upon the circumstances of each case.

The "first day" issue presented by this matter has persisted over centuries of litigation. "After reviewing the cases up to his time, [British jurist] Lord Mansfield concluded 'that the cases for two hundred years had only served to embarrass a point which a plain man of common sense and understanding would have no difficulty in construing." <u>People v. Clayton</u>, 18 Cal.App.4th 440, 443 (1993). "Lord Mansfield enunciated a rule looking

to the circumstances of each case — whether the first day was included or excluded in computing a time period was dependent upon the context and subject matter." <u>Id.</u>

Apart from common law, "many jurisdictions adopted statutes similar to [Code of Civ. Proc. § 12] enacted by California in 1851 [in] its original Practice Act: 'The time within which an act is to be done, as provided in this Act, shall be computed by excluding the first day, and including the last....' (Stats. 1851, ch. 5, § 530, p. 134.)" Clayton, 18 Cal.App.4th at 444; see, Mun. Imp. Co. v. Thompson, 201 Cal. 629, 632 (1927)("[T]he rule laid down in section 12 of the Code of Civil Procedure ... is a re-enactment of section 307 of the original Practice Act (St. 1850, p. 455).").[1]

As with the common law treatment of the issue, whether or not § 12 operates on the "first day" of a time count varies depending on the circumstances of each case. For example, cases involving the calculation of timely public hearing dates for municipal resolutions undertake one analysis keyed to the underlying statute's purpose and wording. See, Mun.

^[1] Earlier established American states have enacted similar provisions of even older vintage. See, e.g., Easton v. Chamberlin, 3 How. Pr. 412, 412 (N.Y. 1849) (citing New York statute providing that "the time within which an act is to be done as herein provided, shall be computed by excluding the first day and including the last").

Imp. Co. v. Thompson, 201 Cal. 629, 632 (1927)(including the "first day" in the count for such purposes). [2] Cases involving the calculation of an ordinance's effective date undertake a different analysis – again keyed to the relevant statute's wording and purpose. See, Ley v. Dominguez, 212 Cal. 587 (1931)(excluding "first day" of ordinance's publication in the relevant count).

The count required here – a statute of limitations count – is, of course, a type of litigation deadline. The rationale for § 12's "first day" exclusion in this setting is grounded in principles of fairness and statutory construction. Where a statute gives a party a litigation deadline for accomplishing a task, § 12 helps to ensure that the party receives the <u>full</u> measure of days granted them to meet the deadline. The "first day" – where

^{[2] § 12} has been raised in a wide variety of circumstances, and the result has been highly fact dependent. Compare, Dep't of Corr. & Rehab. v. State Pers. Bd., 238 Cal.App.4th 710, 720 (2015) (employees' first day of employment is counted as first day of "probationary period," and not excluded); In re Michael D., 211 Cal.App.3d 1280, 1283 (1989) (where agreement was allowed for a period "not to exceed six months," the first day the agreement is executed is counted under the statute); with, In re Anthony B., 104 Cal.App.4th 677, 682-683 (2002) ("where proceedings under section 654.2 are resumed on the one-year anniversary of the filing date of the petition, the resumption occurs '12 months from the date the petition was filed.""); Latinos Unidos de Napa v. City of Napa, 196 Cal.App.4th 1154, 1160–1161 (2011) (statute requiring notice to be posted "for a period of 30 days" excludes the first day of posting)..

the triggering event happens – is already partly spent at the time of the event in issue. To count that partly spent day against a litigation deadline would shortchange the party from the full measure of time granted them to meet the deadline. It would also violate the Legislative definition of a "day". See, Gov. Code, § 6806 ("A day is the period of time between any midnight and the midnight following."). Under § 12, that *partial* day is excluded from the count. Instead, litigation counts begin with the following full day. See, Price v. Whitman, 8 Cal. 412, 417 (1857)("[A]s a fraction of a day cannot be counted, by excluding the first and counting the last day, the full time [is] allowed" to parties in meeting deadlines.); Phelan v. Douglass, 11 How.Prac. 193 (N.Y. 1855)(part days are excluded "since, if counted, it would fail to give the party to be affected the whole of that day, but only a fractional part of it. ... [¶] The law will not take notice of fractions of a day, and the fraction is excluded.")

Against this backdrop, § 12 has been properly applied in a variety of litigation contexts to give parties the full measure of days to accomplish statutorily assigned deadlines. § 12 does not lengthen or shorten the measure of full "days" afforded to a party to satisfy statutory deadlines. Rather, and consistent with Gov. Code § 6806's definition of "day" as being a *full* day, § 12 has been applied to exclude *fractional* "days" from the computation of a variety of litigation deadlines. See, e.g., Weil & Brown, Cal. Practice Guide: Civil Procedure Before Trial, ¶ 6:386

(The Rutter Group 2019) ("defendant's answer is due within 30 days after service of the complaint. ... The 30-day period is computed by excluding the first day and including the last [CCP § 12 et seq.]"); O'Donnell, Pac. Emp. Ins. Co., Interveners v. City & Cty. of San Francisco, 147 Cal. App. 2d 63, 66 (1956) ("in computing the time for the filing of an appeal the day on which the judgment is entered must be excluded."); Welden v. Davis Auto Exch., 153 Cal.App.2d 515, 521 (1957) (where party "was entitled to ten days notice of the motion to dismiss," "service was complete on June 12, 1956. Excluding that day, we find that the motion was heard on the tenth day, i.e., June 22, 1956."); Lamanna v. Vognar, 17 Cal. App. 4th Supp. 4, 8 (1993) ("The three-day notice was served on Wednesday, May 20, therefore Wednesday, May 20, is not counted because the first day is excluded [§ 12]; the first day of the three-day period following service of the notice was Thursday, May 21."). In all of the foregoing cases, and others like them, § 12 was applied to exclude *fractional* days.

Prospective plaintiff litigants facing a statute of limitations deadline also benefit from § 12. For more than 100 years, California courts, including this Court, have held that the fractional date of accrual of a cause of action is "the first day," to be excluded in counting the limitations period. See, e.g., Wixted v. Fletcher, 192 Cal.App.2d 706, 709 (1962)(stating the rule); Soc'y of Cal. Pioneers v. Baker, 43 Cal.App.4th 774, 785 n.12 (1996) (§ 12 "appl[ies] to the computation of time for

statutes of limitation"); SCT, (U.S.A.), Inc. v. Mitsui Manufacturers Bank. 155 Cal.App.3d 1059, 1064 (1984) ("In computing the statute of limitations periods in California ... the day upon which the cause of action accrues is excluded..."); <u>Donian v. Danielian</u>, 90 Cal.App. 675, 678 (1928) ("Excluding the first date, and including the last, it appears that this action was brought within the five years."); First Nat. Bank of Long Beach v. Ziegler, 24 Cal. App. 503, 504 (1914) ("In computing the time constituting the period embraced within a statute of limitation, ... later cases .. are quite uniformly harmonious in their holding that [the date of accrual] day should be excluded, ... as fractions of a day are not considered. ..."); Dingley v. McDonald, 124 Cal. 90, 94–95 (1899) ("the whole current of modern authority ... is in favor of excluding the first day in cases where the expression of our statute [of limitation] is used, 'after the liability was created.' ... In this state the case is set at rest by section 12, Code Civ. Proc., which requires the exclusion of the first day.").²

² § 12 calls for exclusion of the <u>accrual date</u>, May 14, 2011, because it is the salient, partial "first day" for statute of limitations purposes. "It is a fundamental principle in determining when the statute of limitations commences to run, that it runs from the time a cause of action accrues" <u>Barlow v. City Council of City of Inglewood</u>, 32 Cal.2d 688, 694 (1948), quoting <u>Irvine v. Bossen</u>, 25 Cal.2d 652 (1944). "The statute continues to run from the point of accrual until the complaint is filed." Haning et al., <u>Cal. Practice Guide: Personal Injury</u>, ¶ 5:112 (The Rutter Group 2018).

As this is a litigated matter, the key issue in this case is whether the day after Shalabi's under-age tolling ended is the type of fractional day which § 12 was designed to remedy. This Court has, of course, already provided the answer in <u>Ganahl v. Soher</u>, 5 P. 80 (Cal. 1884).

"The proverbial clock starts to run when the action accrues... In a complement to accrual, tolling is a concept which suspends the running of a limitations period to an accrued action. The proverbial clock is stopped when the action is tolled." In re African-Am. Slave Descendants Litig., 304 F.Supp.2d 1027, 1067 (N.D. Ill. 2004). Tolling "does not delay the start of the limitations clock, but rather halts its ticking after the limitations period has accrued." Dixon v. Gonzales, 481 F.3d 324, 330 (6th Cir. 2007).

The date of accrual is "when the limitations clock starts"; tolling "mean[s] stopping a limitations clock that was already ticking." Packgen, Inc. v. Bernstein, Shur, Sawyer & Nelson, P.A., 209 A.3d 116, 130 n.14 (Me. 2019). In other words, "'tolling' a statute of limitations signals stopping the clock." Artis v. District of Columbia, 138 S. Ct. 594, 603 (2018).

Tolling does not change these principles. "A tolling provision 'stops the clock' from running and is distinguishable from an enlarged limitations period." Barker v. Garza, 218 Cal.App.4th 1449, 1469 (2013). "In the context of the tolling of a statute of limitations, we have noted that 'tolling' is properly analogized to the stopping and restarting of a clock." People v. Leiva, 56 Cal.4th 498, 507 (2013). "[A] tolling statute ... does not postpone the date of accrual." Rubenstein v. Doe No. 1, 3 Cal.5th 903, 911 (2017) (discussing Code Civ. Proc., § 340.1). Other jurisdictions unanimously agree with the analogy.

C. In measuring statutes of limitation, <u>Ganahl</u> properly counts the day after tolling expires because the plaintiff has the "whole of the day" to sue.

The issue in this case is, of course, when does the statute of limitations resume once tolling ends? <u>Ganahl v. Soher</u>, 5 P. 80 (1884) provides the answer -- the day after tolling ends is a <u>full</u> "day" and it consequently counts towards the running of the statute of limitations. <u>See</u>, <u>Ganahl</u>, 5 P. at 81.

The minor plaintiff in <u>Ganahl</u> "was born April 11, 1855." <u>Id.</u>

Under the then-extant minority period, plaintiff "became of age *the first*minute of the eleventh day of April, 1876, and by virtue of [the statute of limitations] he was entitled to commence an action for the recovery of whatever interest he had in the land within the period of five years thereafter, but not after the expiration of that period." <u>Ganahl</u>, 5 P. at 80–81 (emphasis added.). Consistent with California's definition of a "day" as being a full day, the <u>Ganahl</u> Court found that the day after expiration of tolling counts against the statute of limitations:

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