#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

#### LUIS SHALABI

SUPREME COURT FILED

Plaintiff and Appellant,

NOV 2 0 2019

v.

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

CITY OF FONTANA, et al.

Deputy

Defendants and Respondents.

REVIEW OF DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO, CASE NO. E069671 SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY SUP. CT., CASE NO. CIVDS1314694

#### APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

### ORTIZ LAW GROUP, APC

JESSE ORTIZ (SBN 176450)
jesse@jesseortizlaw.com
NOLAN BERGGREN (SBN 293248)
nolan@jesseortizlaw.com
ANDRES SALAS (SBN 311242)
andres@jesseortizlaw.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff and Appellant LUIS SHALABI

##

#### I. ISSUE

Code of Civil Procedure section 12 provides: "The time in which any act provided by law is to be done is computed by excluding the first day, and including the last, unless the last day is a holiday, then it is also excluded." In cases where the statute of limitations is tolled, is the first day after tolling ends included or excluded in calculating whether an action is timely filed?

In cases where the statute of limitations is tolled, the first day after tolling ends is included in calculating whether an action is timely filed. However, that has at no point been Mr. Shalabi's contention. Instead, Mr. Shalabi submits that in cases where the statute of limitations is tolled, the day tolling ends is excluded in calculating whether an action is timely filed.

#### II. RELEVANT FACTS

- 1. Mr. Shalabi's date of birth is December 3, 1993;
- 2. Mr. Shalabi reached the age of majority on December 3, 2011; and
- 3. Mr. Shalabi filed his original complaint in this suit on December 3, 2013.

#### III. ARGUMENT

# A. IN CASES WHERE THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IS TOLLED, THE DAY TOLLING ENDS IS EXCLUDED IN CALCULATING WHETHER AN ACTION IS TIMELY FILED

As was recognized by this Court in Ley v. Dominguez, 212 Cal. 587, "[t]he gravest considerations of public order and security require that the method of computing time be definite and certain. Before a given case will be deemed to come under an exception to

the general rule the intention must be clearly expressed that a different method of computation was provided for." (*Id.* at 594.)

These considerations relative to the computation of time for all acts provided for in the Code of Civil Procedure, including its limitations of actions provisions, and the tolling provisions thereof, are codified in section 12 of Code of Civil Procedure. Section 12 provides:

Computation of time. The time in which <u>ANY</u> act provided by law is to be done is computed by excluding the first day, and including the last, unless the last day is a holiday, and then it is also excluded (emphasis added).

Alternatively stated, in computing the period of time "from and after" a specified day, date, act or event, such day or date of such act or event is excluded, and any computation of time is commenced on the following day. (*Ziganto v. Taylor* (1961) 198 Cal.App.2d 603.)

In *Wixted v. Fletcher* (1961) 192 Cal.App.2d 706, the Court recognized and relied on *Ley*'s, and its progeny's, recognition that the method of computation of time be definite and certain and that the provisions of Section 12 be applied to any and all acts provided by law. The issue in *Wixted* was whether a complaint for personal injuries allegedly suffered on February 5, 1959 was barred by the controlling one-year statute of limitations if the complaint was filed on February 5, 1960. In finding the action timely filed pursuant to section 12 of the Code of Civil Procedure, the court reasoned:

[n]ot only do 'considerations of public order and security require that the method of computing time be definite and certain,' but some measure of uniformity in the law is achieved by adherence to the principles declared . . . Thus, for years the rule of the first day's exclusion has been applied in a variety of situations: It is applicable in computing the time for filing notice of appeal (O'Donnell v. City County of San Francisco 147 Cal.App.2d 63); the period for service of notice to dismiss an action (Welden v. Davis Auto Exchange 153 Cal.App.2d 515); the time within which a writ of attachment is issued (Scoville v. Anderson 131 Cal. 590); whether a year has elapsed between interlocutory and final divorce decrees (Overby v. Overby 154 Cal.App.2d 813); and whether an action to foreclose a mechanic's lien was filed within the prescribed period (Pacific Sash Door Co. v. Bumiller 162 Cal. 664.) There are already enough legal subtleties without adding the further refinement that one rule of time computation must be applied to certain statutes of limitation and still another to procedural situations.

*Id.* at 710.

As recognized above, uniformity in the computation of time is required. There does not exist any provision within the Code of Civil Procedure that provides for a different method for the computation of time as to any of its provisions. Indeed, Section 12 specifically includes "any" act provided for by law, that would include the tolling provisions of the Code of Civil Procedure within its computation provisions.

Case law supports the foregoing statutory interpretation of section 12 and applicability to the tolling provisions of section 352. In West Shield Investigations and Security Consultants v. Superior Court of Santa Clara (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 935, the subject of the action became an emancipated minor on May 8, 1995. (Id. at 942.) The action was filed on September 9, 1996. The applicable statute of limitations provided for a limitation period of one year. (Id. at 935.) The Court in West Shield discussed the applicability of the tolling provisions of section 352 of the Code of Civil Procedure and the rationale behind that section. (Id. at 947.) The Court explained:

The rationale for the minor's tolling provision relates to a minor's disability. "Because a minor does not have the understanding or experience of an adult, and because a minor may not bring an action except through a guardian . . . special safeguards are required to protect the minor's right of action." (Amie v. Superior Court (1979) 99 Cal.App..3d 421, 426 [160 Cal.Rptr. 271.] Therefor, statutes of limitations are tolled to protect the minor's rights from being destroyed during the period of disability. (See Williams v. Los Angeles Metropolitan Transit Authority (1968 68 Cal.2d 559, 602 [68 Cal.Rptr. 297, 440 P.2d 497.; Tzolov v. International Jet Leasing, Inc. (1991) 232 Cal.App.3d 117, 121[28 Cal.Rptr. 314].) Id. at 947.

Ultimately, the Court held that the period of tolling ended the day the subject was no longer disabled, a minor, on May 8, 1995-the day she was emancipated. The Court further held that it meant that the one-year statute of limitations began running on the date of emancipation, May 8, 1995. The Court excluded the day of emancipation (the date tolling ended) and the first day counted was May 9, 1995, the first day after tolling ended. (*Id.* at 950). The Court held that the minor had until May 8, 1996 in which to commence his action as the limitations period expired on May 9, 1996. (*Id.*)

Here, as in *West Shield*, the limitations period began to run the day Mr. Shalabi was no longer disabled, December 3, 2011. The day Mr. Shalabi was no longer disabled, a minor is to be excluded. The first day counted is December 4, 2011. Consequently, Mr. Shalabi had until December 3, 2013 to the file this action as the limitations period expired on December 4, 2013. This action was commenced on December 3, 2013 and is therefore timely.

The same analysis relative to a different *tolling* provision of section 352, the result, and the applicability of section 12 was reached in *Cabrera v. City of Huntington* 

Park 159 F.3d 374. In Cabrera, the plaintiff suffered a disability for purposes of section 352 in that he was incarcerated. (*Id.* at 377.) Mr. Cabrera was released from custody on August 8, 1992. *Id.* The issue in Cabrera was what day was counted as the first for statute of limitations purposes. (*Id.* at 378.) Relying of section 12 of the Code of Civil Procedure, Mr. Cabrera contended that the first day after his disability ended, when he was released from custody-August 9, 1992, should be excluded from the calculation and that August 10, 1992 should be the first day counted. (*Id.*) The Court in Cabrera disagreed. It held that the first day after the disability ceases is to be included in the computation of the period of time limited by statute. (*Id.* at 378-379.) As such, since Mr. Cabrera's disability ended on August 8, 1992, that date was excluded. The Court counted August 9, 1992, the first day after tolling ended, as the first day of the limitation period calculation. (*Id.*)

Pursuant to the *Cabrera* analysis, since Mr. Shalabi's disability ended pursuant to section 352 on December 3, 2011, the day he reached the age of majority. That day, the delay tolling ended, is to be excluded and the first day counted is be December 4, 2011. Mr. Shalabi commenced this action on December 3, 2013. Consequently, pursuant to *Cabrera*, this action was timely filed.

In Snyder v. Boy Scouts of America (1988) 205 Cal.App.3d 1318, the plaintiff commenced a personal injury action for injuries he sustained as a minor. (*Id.* at 1320.) The Court held that pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure 352, if the plaintiff is under the age of majority when a cause of action accrues, the period of minority is not a part of the time limited for the commencement of the action. The age of majority is 18 years

pursuant to Civil Code section 25. Consequently, the Court held that the plaintiff had one year from his 18<sup>th</sup> birthday, his 19<sup>th</sup> birthday, to commence this tort action. (*Id.* at 1323.)

To reach this calculation, the Court excluded the day tolling ended, the Plaintiff's 18<sup>th</sup> birthday, from the computation of time.

Here, as in *Snyder*, the limitations period began to run the day Mr. Shalabi was no longer disabled, December 3, 2011. The day Mr. Shalabi was no longer disabled, his 18<sup>th</sup> birthday is to be excluded. The first day counted is December 4, 2011. Consequently, Mr. Shalabi had until December 3, 2013—his 20th birthday—to the file this action as the limitations period expired on December 4, 2013. This action was commenced on December 3, 2013 and is therefore timely.

Petitioner's reliance on *Ganahl v. Soher*, purports to be an argument that *Ganahl* created an exception to the general rule for computation under section 12 as to one of the tolling provisions of section 352 of the Code of Civil Procedure. However, as recognized by this Court, and most, if not all of the Courts of Appeal of this State, before an exception to the general rule for computation of time requiring exclusion of the first day and inclusions of the last day may be invoked, intention to provide for a different method of computation must be clearly expressed by the legislature. (*Ley v. Dominguez*, 212 Cal. 587; *Union Oil Co. of Cal. v. Domengeaux* (1939) 30 Cal.App.2d 266). There is absolutely nothing in the plain language of either section 12 or 352 that clearly expresses an intention to provide for a different method of computation. Further, there is absolutely nothing in the legislative history of either section12 or 352 that makes that indication, or even hints at it.

"The gravest considerations of public order and security require that the method of computing time be definite and certain. Before a given case will be deemed to come under an exception to the general rule the intention must be clearly expressed that a different method of computation was provided for." (*Ley v. Dominguez*, 212 Cal. 587, 594). There is no clear expression, whatever, that a different method of computation of time is provided for any of the Code of Civil Procedures tolling provisions much less the specific tolling provision of section 352 as it relates to minors, who require "special safeguards" to "protect" their "right of action." (*Amie v. Superior Court* (1979) 99 Cal.App.3d 421, 426).

Section 12 controls the computation of time here. December 3, 2011, the date

Plaintiff turned eighteen years of age was the date his disability ended. (Code Civ. Proc.

352.) It is of no significance whether he turned 18 at 12:01 a.m. Pursuant to section 12

and the case law cited above, the first day—the day the disability ended—is to be

excluded from the calculation. The "first day after" the disability ended, December 4,

2011, is the first day in the calculation. The last day in which Mr. Shalabi had to

commence this action was December 3, 2013. The applicable limitations period ran on

December 4, 2013. Mr. Shalabi's Complaint was filed on December 3, 2013, his 20<sup>th</sup>

birthday—within two years of the date the statute began to run. Accordingly, the

Complaint was filed within the limitations period. It was timely.

///

///

# B. THIS COURT LIMITED BRIEFING TO THE LIMITED ISSUE TO THE APPLICABILITY OF SECTION 12 TO THE TOLLING PROVISIONS OF THE CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

On August 14, 2019 this Court specifically Ordered that "the issue to be briefed and argued is limited to the following: Code of Civil Procedure section 12 provides: "The time in which any act provided by law is to be done is computed by excluding the first day, and including the last, unless the last day is a holiday, then it is also excluded." In cases where the statute of limitations is tolled, is the first day after tolling ends included or excluded in calculating whether an action is timely filed?"

The Brief submitted by Petitioner goes well beyond the Court's limitation, and arguably does not even address the issue raised by the Court. As such, Mr. Shalabi will not address the issues briefed by Respondent that are beyond the scope of briefing and argument set forth by the Court. If the Court would like Petitioner to respond to the issues raised by Petitioner that are beyond the scope of the Court's limitation, Mr. Shalabi will so do.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

For each of the foregoing reasons, Mr. Shalabi respectfully submits that 1) this Court should hold that no exception to any of the tolling provisions, and specifically the tolling provision of section 352 as it relates minors, of the Code of Civil Procedure exist; 2) this Court should overrule *Ganahl v. Soher*; 3) this Court should affirm the judgment of the Court of Appeal and deem this action timely filed and remand to the trial court; and 4) this Court to award Mr. Shalabi his costs.